WI-12 1878, 1936
Wicomico County Courthouse

Salisbury

Public

Prominently sited in the center of Salisbury on the northeast corner of North Division
Street and East Main Street is the Wicomico County Courthouse complex, a combination
of nineteenth and twentieth century structures erected over the course of over one-
hundred years to serve the needs of the county. The building is a fine example of
Victorian Gothic public architecture and it is an imposing structure on its site. While the
building has been expanded three times during the past sixty years, the original 1870s
design has been largely respected.

Following the partition of Somerset and Worcester counties in 1867 in order to
create Wicomico County, the new county offices of the clerk of court, register of wills,
and county commissioners, etc. were housed in a variety of structures located in
Salisbury’s central business district. Seven years passed before a lot was acquired for the
new courthouse, and another three years lapsed before the new courthouse was erected.
The distinctive three-story pressed brick courthouse is distinguished by uneven corner
towers and a wide variety Victorian brick and stone decoration. Built at the height of
interest in asymmetrical design, the pressed brick courthouse is dominated by a three-
story stair and clock tower that rises on the northwest corner. The sides of the courthouse
are defined by series of long, narrow window openings accented with keystone and
impost blocks. Black painted brick stringcourses as well as soldier courses of brick set

on a diagonal serve to divide the wall horizontally. The top of the courthouse wall is
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finished with corbelled brickwork that follows an undulating line coincident with the
gable forms that front the steeply pitched mansard type roof. A stone plaque fastened to
the wall between the two double door entrances records that architect E. M. Butz
designed the courthouse and the construction program was executed by W. V. Hughes.
Serving on the board of county commissioners at the time were William W.

Disharoon, Henry W. Anderson, Adam P. Bethards, Clayton C. Parker, and James H.
Elliott. The original late nineteenth century jail, built at the same time, stood behind the
courthouse.

The 1878 courthouse and jail remained essentially unchanged until the 1930s
when an ambitious addition was financed by the Federal Emergency Administration of
Public Works. Built in 1936 after the designs prepared by the Salisbury firm of Malone
and Williams, the addition was conceived in the popular Art Deco style with an ashlar,
limestone basement supporting a three-story brick block. The south and east walls retain
original features including Art Deco lam posts on each side of the double door entrances.
The construction firm of Seymour Ruffand and Sons executed the design with Paul
Gywnn Crout as the structural engineer and Thomas S. George as the mechanical
engineer. As originally conceived the county jail occupied the top floor, and it is
distinguished on the exterior by its plain, unadorned exterior openings. Another addition,
the Government Building, was erected in 1974-75, and a third enlargement occurred in

the mid 1990s.
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MARYLAND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DATA

1. Historic Period Theme(s):  prchitecture
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Survey No. WI-12

MARYLAND INVENTORY OF

Maryland Historical Trust HISTORIC PROPERTIES Magi No.
State Historic Sites Inventory Form boE _yes _ no

1. Name (indicate preferred name)

historic Wicomico Countv Courthouse

and/or common

2. Location

street & number North Division Street —__ not for publication

city, town Salisbury ___ vicinity of congressional district First

state Mar<land county Wicomico

3. Classification

Category Ownership Status Present Use

— district e public _X__ occupied —___agriculture —____museum

___building(s) _—_ private —___ unoccupied ____ commercial — park

—_ structure __both __work in progress —educational . private residence

— site Public Acquisition Accessible entertainment —___religious

- _ object —___in process ___yes: restricted _X government ____scientific
being considered X__ yes: unrestricted —__ industrial —_ transportation

xnot applicable __ no ____ military ___other:

4. owner Of PrOpeI‘tv (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Wicomico County Council
street & number Wicomico County Courthouse telephone no.:
city, town Salisbury state and zip code Maryland

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Wicomico County Clerk of Court liber
street & number Wicomico County Courthouse folio
city, town Salisbury state 11aryland 21801

6. Representation in Existing nistorical surveys

title Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties
date 1967 ___federal _*_state —  county ___ local
_pository for survey records Maryland Historical Trust

city, town Crownsville state MD 21032




7. Description Survey No. WI~12

Condition Check one Check one

___excellent ___ deteriorated unaltered _% original site

_X good —ruins X _ altered ___ moved date of move
—fair — unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

The Wicomico County Courthouse stands on the northeast corner of the intersection of
East Main Street and North Division Street in the center of Salisbury, Wicomico
County, Maryland. The three-story, four-bay brick courthouse, initially designed by
E. M. Butz and erected in 1878, it has been enlarged three times; first in 1936 with an
addition to the back designed by the Salisbury architectural firm of Malone and
Williams, secondly by a large addition in 1974-75, and thirdly in mid 1990s. The
1878 building is covered by a low pitched hip-on-mansard roof. A cross-gabled front
is flanked by uneven towers rising on the southwest and northwest corners. The
building faces west.

The 1878 courthouse is a Victorian Gothic structure supported by a fully
excavated cellar finished on the exterior with rusticated stone. Above the foundation
level, the smooth pressed, stretcher bond brick is laid in black mortar. The steeply
pitched mansard roof, as well as the tower roofs, is covered with slate.

The west (main) facade is an asymmetrical elevation with uneven towers
flanking a cross-gabled entrance wall. Twin double door entrances sheltered by a flat
roofed portico defined the first floor. The porch roof is supported on metal columns
resting on octagonal bases. The top edge of the roof is trimmed with a decorative
metal cresting. The two double door entrances are filled with partially glazed doors
and are framed by highly decorative surrounds and are topped by three-pane pointed
arch transoms. Stone keystones and impost blocks are combined with black painted
bricks laid in stringcourses which accent the red-brown pressed brick. Fixed between
the pair of entrances is a stone building plaque inscribed: “County Comm. W. W.
Disharoon, H. W. Anderson, A. P. Bethards, C. C. Parker, J. H. Elliott, Architect-E.
M. Butz and Contractor W. V. Hughes.” The entrance wall is pierced on the second
floor by three windows. A large four-over-four sash window is flanked by smaller and
narrower four-over-four sash windows. Each opening is topped by a pointed arch
highlighted with stone keystones and impost blocks along with black painted bricks.
Additional rows of soldier course bricks set on diagonal serve to decorate the building
in the manner of a stringcourse. The third floor is pierced by a series of four narrow
four-over-four sash windows with decorated arches that are executed in the same
fashion as the second floor arches. Fixed in the upper gable is a datestone inscribed,
“Erected A. D. 1878.” The eave of the center wall is finished with a corbelled brick
bed molding fitted under the wooden cornice.

Rising on the northwest corner is a three-story stair and clock tower capped
with a short pyramidal roofed spire. The tower also contains the original staircase.
The west (front) face of the tower is pierced by a pair of four-over-four sash windows
with a rounded pointed arch featuring the same decorative stone and brickwork above
each opening. The second floor is defined in a like manner, and the third floor is

(Continued)



8- Significance Survey No. WTL-12

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

—prehistoric __ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture_____ religion

_ . 1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic —_ conservation — law —___science

- 1500-1599 ____ agriculture —___economics — literature — sculpture

___1600-1699 _*_architecture ____education ___ military ___social/

1700-1799 ___ art —__ engineering — music humanitarian

-z 1800-1899 __ commerce — exploration/settlement ___ phitosophy —— theater

—— 1900- —__ communications ___ industry —— politics/government ____ transportation
—__invention — other (specify)

Specific dates 1878,1936, 1974 puilder/Architect W. V. Hughes, E. M. Butz

check: Applicable Criteria: _ A _ B >_(_C __D sullder, ALchltect

and/or
Applicable Exception: _ A B C D E F G

: X
Level of Significance: _ national __ state _ local

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and
support.
Prominently sited in the center of Salisbury on the northeast corner of North Division
Street and East Main Street is the Wicomico County Courthouse complex, a combination
of nineteenth and twentieth century structures erected over the course of over one-
hundred years to serve the needs of the county. The building is of high architectural and
historical value and therefore deserves listing in Category A. The building is a fine
example of Victorian Gothic public architecture and it is an imposing structure on its site.
While the building has been expanded three times during the past sixty years, the original
1870s design has been largely respected.

Following the partition in 1867 of Somerset and Worcester counties in order to
create Wicomico County, the new county offices of the clerk of court, register of wills,
and county commissioners, etc. were housed in a variety of structures located in
Salisbury’s central business district. Seven years passed before a lot was acquired for the
new courthouse, and another three years lapsed before the new courthouse was erected.
The distinctive three-story pressed brick courthouse is distinguished by uneven corner
towers and a wide variety Victorian brick and stone decoration. Built at the height of
interest in asymmetrical design, the pressed brick courthouse is dominated by a three-
story stair and clock tower that rises on the northwest corner. The sides of the courthouse
are defined by series of long, narrow window openings accented with keystone and
impost blocks. Black painted brick stringcourses as well as soldier courses of brick set
on a diagonal serve to divide the wall horizontally. The top of the courthouse wall is
finished with corbelled brickwork that follows an undulating line coincident with the
gable forms that front the steeply pitched mansard type roof. A stone plaque fastened to
the wall between the two double door entrances records that architect E. M. Butz
designed the courthouse and the construction program was executed by W. V. Hughes.
Serving on the board of county commissioners at the time were William W.

Disharoon, Henry W. Anderson, Adam P. Bethards, Clayton C. Parker, and James H.
Elliott. The original late nineteenth century jail, built at the same time, stood behind the
courthouse.

The 1878 courthouse and jail remained essentially unchanged until the 1930s
when an ambitious addition was financed by the Federal Emergency Administration of

(Continued)
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7.1 DESCRIPTION
Wicomico County Courthouse, WI-12
Salisbury, Wicomico County, Maryland

pierced by a single window opening filled with a paired set of four-over-four sash windows
with pointed arches. The brickwork finishes over the arch repeats the same appearance as
the rest of the front arches, although the keystone and impost blocks are of a larger scale.
The stair and clock tower is topped by a cross gable highlighted in corbelled brick. A heavy
wood cornice finishes the edge of the cross gable. The base of the spire, sheathed with slate,
is steeply sloped on four sides with the corners trimmed in wood. The truncated pyramidal
roof is topped by a squarish clock tower with paired, louvered vents on each side. The clock
tower is capped by cross-gabled roof combined with a tapered spire. The tapered spire is
sheathed with slate and is topped by a pointed finial.

Rising on the southwest corner is a three-story tower capped by a truncated
pyramidal slate roof. The west (front) face of the tower is pierced in the same fashion as the
stair and clock tower with paired four-over-four sash windows on the first and second floors,
and a paired set of four-over-four sash windows under a single arch on the third floor. A
cross-gable finishes the top of the wall surface, and it is highlighted with corbelled brick and
a wooden cornice. The East Main Street elevation of the southwest tower is detailed in the
same fashion.

The south side of the courthouse is five bays across with the southeast tower defined
by a slightly projecting three-story tower. The rusticated stone foundation is fully exposed
on the south side. The first and second floors of the courthouse are pierced by narrow
Gothic arched window openings finished with the same decorative stone accents and
brickwork features as the front of the courthouse. A center door opening on the first floor
has been brick up.

The east (rear) wall of the 1878 courthouse has been completely covered by the 1936
Art Deco style addition, which is a three-story brick structure that rests on a high cut
limestone foundation. The seven-bay by three-bay brick and stone addition is covered by a
flat roof disguised by a parapet capped with a stone coping. The seven-bay south wall is a
symmetrical facade with a slightly projecting five-bay center block that rises slightly above
the outer two bays. The center five bays are distinguished by a neoclassical framework of
six stone pilasters that rise two stories atop the stone foundation to a plan entablature. The
top story of the addition was designed as the county jail, which is defined by a series of
paired and grilled openings. Piercing the foundation level is a double-door side entrance
framed by plain entrance surround incised with an entablature carving depicting the seal of
the State of Maryland. To each side of the seal is a section of Greek key molding. The
double glazed door is flanked by a pair of 1930s bronze post lights that stand atop stone
bases. The posts have round globe lights and stylized neoclassical columned shafts. The

(Continued)




7.2 DESCRIPTION
Wicomico County Courthouse
Salisbury, Wicomico County, Maryland

foundation wall is pierced to each side by paired window openings filled with metal sash.
The outer two bays are marked by single window openings. The first and second floors
are pierced by paired six-over-six sash windows set between flanking stone pilasters. The
outer single bays are marked by windows framed by stone surrounds.

The east (rear) wall of the 1936 addition is finished in the same fashion as the
south wall except that the east wall is a narrower, three-bay elevation. A center, rear
entrance is framed by a plain surround within the cut ashlar foundation. Four plain
pilasters rise atop the foundation to flank the paired first and second floor window
openings. The top floor, the former jail, is marked by three sets of paired openings filled
with ventilation louvers.

The north wall of the 1936 addition is partially covered by a two-story hyphen
wall of glass that joins the 1990s annex to the courthouse.

The interior retains a number of original late nineteenth century features
combined with other elements that date to the 1930s. A terrazzo floor was laid on the
main floor, but the late nineteenth century turned baluster staircase survives in the
northwest tower off the front vestibule. A long center passage divides the first floor in
two sections with tall door openings framed by molded surrounds. The raised panel
doors open into various first floor offices. The late nineteenth century paneled doors are
topped by glass transoms. The interior of the 1930s courthouse addition has not been
altered to any large degree. Fixed on the wall of the cellar hall is large bronze plaque
identifying the partners that served in the construction project. The Federal Emergency
Administration of Public Works financed the construction along with Wicomico County.
The County Commissioners serving at the time were J. S. Adkins, President; C. R.
Parker, Vice-President; W. H. Farlow, L. N. Dukes, and E. M. Larmore. The addition
was designed by the Salisbury architectural firm of Malone and Williams with Seymour
Ruffand and Sons, Inc. as the contractor. Paul Gwynn Crout was the structural engineer
and Thomas S. George the mechanical engineer.
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8.1 SIGNIFICANCE
Wicomico County Courthouse
Salisbury, Wicomico County, Maryland

Public Works. Built in 1936 following designs prepared by the Salisbury firm of Malone
and Williams, the addition was conceived in the popular Art Deco style with an ashlar
limestone basement supporting a three-story brick block. The south and east walls retain
original features including the Art Deco lamp posts on either side of the double door
ground level entrances. The construction firm of Seymour Ruffand and Sons executed
the design with Paul Gywnn Crout as the structural engineer and Thomas S. George as
the mechanical engineer. As originally conceived the county jail occupied the top floor,
and it is distinguished on the exterior by its plain, unadorned exterior openings. Another
addition, the Government Building, was erected in 1974-75, and a third enlargement
occurred in the mid 1990s.
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Wicomico County Courthouse

Each of the flanking sides have similar appearance
with five-bay center and two flanking pavilions; the ones
on the west having a tower, while the ones on the east
are without tower. Corbels of the central portion are
more defined.
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